Appeal No. 24-CF-156

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

Clerk of the Court
Received 01/21/2025 12:53 PM
Filed 01/21/2025 12:53 PM

ANTOINE LAYNE,

Appellant,

v.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Appellee.

Appeal from the Superior Court of the
District of Columbia
Criminal Division
Case No. 2023-CF2-002579

BRIEF FOR APPELLANT

Anne Keith Walton, Esq.
Bar No. 991042
4315 50th St. NW
Suite 100-7104
Washington, DC 20016
(202) 642-5046
waltonlawdc@gmail.com

DC Court of Appeals Rule 28 (a)(2) Statement

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. Whether the trial court abused its discretion by allowing an officer to testify as an expert with respect to the only drug found on Mr. Layne – dimethylpentylone – where the officer was unqualified to do so, and where the officer’s opinion regarding possession with intent to distribute the drug was speculative and unreliable.
- II. Whether the trial court erred by improperly acting as a partisan by interfering in the testimony of multiple witnesses in a manner that assisted the prosecution and denied Mr. Layne the right to an impartial decision-maker.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 2, 2022, Antione Layne, co-appellant Elliott Wallace, and Jowan Plummer were arrested after a traffic stop that led to police officers recovering controlled substances from the men and a firearm from the car. S.R.¹ 37-39 (PDF) (Presentence Investigation Report pp. 4-6). Mr. Layne and Mr. Wallace were later indicted on multiple charges related to the controlled substances and the firearm. R. at 144-46 (PDF) (Indictment).

The case proceeded to trial before Judge Erik Christian and, on October 6, 2023, the jury found Mr. Layne guilty of the following offenses: possession with

¹ “S.R.” refers to the Sealed Record. “R.” refers to the record. “Tr.” refers to the Transcript.

intent to distribute a controlled substance (N,N-Dimethylpentylone) while armed, possession of a firearm during a crime of violence or dangerous offense, possession of N,N-Dimethylpentylone, unlawful possession of a firearm (prior conviction), carrying a pistol without a license, possession of an unregistered firearm, and unlawful possession of ammunition. R. at 178-81 (PDF) (Verdict Form); Tr. 10/6/23 at 5. Mr. Wallace was found guilty of several offenses related to the controlled substances that were found in his possession. Tr. 10/6/23 at 4-5.

On February 14, 2024, Judge Christian sentenced Mr. Layne to a total term of incarceration of 210 months (17.5 years) followed by 3 years of supervised release, and he was ordered to pay \$600 to the Victims of Violent Crime Compensation fund. R. at 245-47 (PDF) (Judgment & Sentence); Tr. 2/14/24 at 28-30. Counsel for Mr. Layne filed a timely notice of appeal on February 20, 2024. R. at 246-47 (PDF) (Notice of Appeal).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

I. Government's Evidence at Trial

The government called the following witnesses to testify at trial: forensic scientist Vaibav Bist, crime scene technician Robert McCollum, crime scene investigator Jean-Paul Paskalis, Metropolitan Police Department (“MPD”) Officer Russell Dawes, forensic DNA analyst Alexandra Polakovic, forensic DNA analyst and quality assurance manager Jamie Haas, Detective Sergeant Owais Akhtar, MPD

Officer Roylanda Merricks, forensic chemist supervisor Kyle Brown, forensic chemist Brittany Argento, and MPD Officer Scott Brown.

Sergeant Akhtar testified that, on October 22, 2022, around 5:00 p.m., he was on patrol driving on Rhode Island Avenue NW when he observed a four-door BMW with a heavy tint, as well as a plastic cover on the rear license plate that created a glare. Tr. 9/29/23 at 147-50. At that point, the trial court intervened in the direct examination of Sergeant Akhtar to clarify the reasons for the traffic stop, eliciting testimony that a traffic violation had occurred. *Id.* at 150-52.

According to Sergeant Akhtar, the vehicle stopped in the 1900 block of 5th Street NW after about a minute. *Id.* at 152-53. Sergeant Akhtar exited his vehicle and spoke with Mr. Wallace, who was the driver of the BMW. *Id.* at 153. He observed Mr. Plummer, the owner of the vehicle, in the front passenger seat and Mr. Layne in the back passenger seat behind Mr. Plummer. *Id.* at 153, 155. Sergeant Akhtar testified that he observed Mr. Plummer reach underneath his seat with his hand, making a movement. *Id.* at 156. A portion of Sergeant Akhtar's body-worn-camera footage was admitted into evidence. *Id.* at 158. Sergeant Akhtar described pointing at Mr. Plummer due to his movements, which he made multiple times. *Id.* at 163, 185. Specifically, Mr. Plummer was leaning forward and making a motion, which Sergeant Akhtar believed was consistent with someone trying to shove something underneath the seat to hide an object. *Id.* at 185-86, 191-92.

Sergeant Akhtar testified that the officers “had all the occupants exit the vehicle.” *Id.* at 156. The trial court intervened to clarify the manner in which the men were requested to exit the vehicle, eliciting testimony that the men were asked (not told) to step out of the vehicle. *Id.* at 156-57. Sergeant Akhtar further testified that, once the men exited the vehicle, Officer Khan observed an open container of alcohol on the rear passenger compartment. *Id.* at 157. According to Sergeant Akhtar, there was also a Solo cup containing liquid consistent with alcohol in the front passenger side, as well as a firearm underneath the passenger seat. *Id.* at 157. Sergeant Akhtar also testified about processing the arrest at the Third District station and identified the drugs recovered from Mr. Layne, which he described as a sandwich bag containing tied plastic with a rock substance. *Id.* at 173, 182-83.

Officer Dawes testified that he and his partner, Officer Ryder, responded to Sergeant Akhtar’s request for assistance with a traffic stop. *Id.* at 14. When Officer Dawes approached Mr. Plummer’s vehicle, he observed three individuals in the car. *Id.* at 14-15. Officer Dawes testified that he stayed at the driver’s side rear window, which was down, so he could observe Mr. Layne while Sergeant Akhtar and Officer Ryder spoke with Mr. Wallace and Mr. Plummer. *Id.* at 14-16. According to Officer Dawes, Mr. Layne was in the back seat “kind of like fidgeting around.” *Id.* at 16. Officer Dawes testified that he observed Mr. Layne moving his hands around and inching his left leg and left foot towards the front portion of the car. *Id.* at 33-34.

Officer Dawes “felt like” Mr. Layne was trying to conceal something, as he learned that Mr. Plummer had placed something underneath the front portion of the seat. *Id.* at 17.

Officer Dawes testified that, after the men were ordered to step out of the vehicle, he observed a jacket, an open bottle of Remy Martin, and brownish liquid in a blue cup in the center console cupholder. *Id.* at 18-19. He did not observe drug paraphernalia, powder on the floor, or containers. *Id.* at 18. According to Officer Dawes, Officer Khan searched the passenger side and observed a firearm under the passenger seat. *Id.* at 19. Officer Dawes testified that he also observed a firearm under the front seat, which “was pretty deep,” and that he recovered the firearm. *Id.* at 20. Officer Dawes further testified that he observed Officer Brooks search Mr. Wallace, and that Officer Brooks found a bag of suspected drugs and U.S. currency in a pocket of Mr. Wallace’s jacket. *Id.* at 22-23.

Officer Roylanda Merricks testified that she responded to the scene, searched Mr. Layne, and recovered a white rock-like substance and some money from one of his pockets. Tr. 10/2/23 at 8-9. Forensic chemist Kyle Brown, who was qualified as an expert, testified that the suspected controlled substance recovered from Mr. Layne (identified as item or exhibit 7) contained N,N-Dimethylpentylone (hereinafter “dimethylpentylone”). *Id.* at 38. He further testified that the street name for

dimethylpentylone is bath salts. *Id.* Forensic chemist Brittany Argento, who was also qualified as an expert, confirmed the presence of dimethylpentylone. *Id.* at 57.

Forensic scientist Vaibhav Bist testified that he recovered the firearm from the scene from another officer, documented it and took it back to the lab. Tr. 9/28/23 at 148-58. Crime scene technician Robert McCollum testified that he processed the firearm in the lab, which included swabbing the firearm for DNA and fingerprints. *Id.* at 166-72. No fingerprints were obtained from the firearm. *Id.* at 172-73.

Crime scene investigator Jean-Paul Paskalis testified that, after receiving warrants to collect buccal swabs, he collected the swabs from Mr. Plummer, Mr. Wallace, and Mr. Layne in the U.S. Marshall's block. *Id.* at 178-88. After the government concluded direct examination, the trial court questioned Mr. Paskalis about the process of taking a swab and how the swab is stored after it is collected from an individual. *Id.* at 187-88. It was revealed in cross-examination that Mr. Paskalis had a sustained finding against him for mishandling property in 2012. *Id.* at 192-93.

Forensic DNA analyst Alexandra Polakovic testified that she received DNA swabs from the pistol and the magazine, as well as the three buccal swabs collected in this case, and that she performed evidence examination and DNA analysis. Tr. 9/29/23 at 81-87. According to DNA analyst quality assurance manager Jamie Haas, who was qualified as an expert, the DNA profile obtained from the swabs from the

pistol and the magazine were both interpreted as a mixture of three individuals with at least one male contributor. *Id.* at 120, 122. Mr. Haas testified that, with respect to the pistol, the likelihood ratio favored exclusion for Mr. Plummer, and inclusion for Mr. Wallace and Mr. Layne. *Id.* at 120-21. The STRmix estimated that the mixture proportioned for Mr. Layne was 91 percent. *Id.* at 137. With respect to the magazine, the likelihood ratio favored exclusion for Mr. Plummer and Mr. Wallace, and inclusion for Mr. Layne. *Id.* at 123-24. The STRmix estimated that the mixture proportioned for Mr. Layne was 90 percent. *Id.* at 138.

Scott Brown, an MPD senior police officer and task force officer, was qualified over objection as an expert concerning the distribution and use of narcotics, packaging of narcotics, and the manner of distribution and price of narcotics. Tr. 10/2/23 at 89. When the government proffered Officer Brown as an expert, counsel for Mr. Layne objected and conducted voir dire. *Id.* at 80. First, Officer Brown claimed that the correct pronunciation for dimethylpentylone is “[d]emethylon [p]entylone.” *Id.* at 80. Officer Brown also acknowledged that he had just “come across” dimethylpentylone in the past six months and had seen it about a dozen times. *Id.* at 81. Officer Brown admitted that he had not discussed the drug in any courses that he taught because “it’s fairly new, and I’m still educating myself on . . . how it’s used in D.C.” *Id.* Officer Brown testified that he had not taken any courses on dimethylpentylone, and that he had only interviewed one or two sources about

the drug, with the last time being three months ago. *Id.* at 82-83. When confronted with a drug chart that he produced, Officer Brown admitted that the last update was in 2020, which was before dimethylpentylone came on the scene in the District. *Id.* at 83-84. Officer Brown also admitted that he had never been qualified as an expert with respect to dimethylpentylone. *Id.* at 84.

After Mr. Wallace's counsel conducted voir dire, counsel for Mr. Layne again objected to the qualification of Officer Brown as an expert with respect to dimethylpentylone. *Id.* at 86-88. As grounds for the objection, counsel argued that Officer Brown could not even pronounce dimethylpentylone, had almost no experience with the drug, had no formal training, and was relying on a weight and pricing chart that was updated three years before the drug came on the scene. *Id.* Mr. Layne's counsel also argued that Officer Brown did not have the level of knowledge and experience necessary to qualify him as an expert regarding the distribution of dimethylpentylone. *Id.* The trial court denied the objection, stating that:

I think he has sufficient education and training to testify about these narcotics in general. He indicated that he has had experience based upon its new use in the Washington, District of Columbia area along with the neighboring jurisdiction of Montgomery County. So you can pretty much have at it in cross-examination.

Id. at 88. The trial court also ruled that Officer Brown could testify about whether the drugs found in the possession of the defendants were consistent with intent to

distribute, but that counsel could cross-examine Officer Brown about the pronunciation of dimethylpentylone or any other drug. *Id.* at 87.

Counsel for Mr. Wallace adopted Mr. Layne's counsel's arguments and raised the issue that there is no way to tell what percentage of the drugs found on Mr. Wallace was dimethylpentylone, and that Officer Brown had insufficient knowledge to testify about dimethylpentylone. *Id.* at 88-89. In response, the trial court stated:

All right. So that's even more of a reason why I'm going to permit him to testify, if there's a mixture of cocaine and dimethylpentylone that hasn't been extracted in a fashion which can readily [be] discerned by these forensic chemists who you had no objection to qualifying as experts. I'm going to allow it to come in, but you can argue as to, you know, the weight and clearly the sufficiency of the evidence if there's a charge pertaining to that solely. But your objection is noted.

Id. at 89.

After Officer Brown was qualified as an expert, he testified about the narcotics trade in general and then turned to the drugs found on Mr. Wallace and Mr. Layne. With respect to the dimethylpentylone found on Mr. Layne, Officer Brown relied heavily on his knowledge and experience with crack cocaine and ultimately opined that the amount of dimethylpentylone (which he compared to two "eightballs" of crack) found on Mr. Layne was consistent with distribution. *Id.* at 108-15. On cross-examination, Officer Brown again mispronounced dimethylpentylone and admitted that he had probably discussed it with fewer than ten people, and that he didn't know what the price was in 2022 (when the offenses at issue in this case occurred). *Id.* at

139-40, 145-46. He also admitted that his drug weight and pricing chart did not include dimethylpentylone, and that he had never written any statements or reports about how dimethylpentylone is packaged and sold. *Id.* at 144-45.

II. Motion for Judgment of Acquittal

When counsel for Mr. Wallace and Mr. Layne tried to make a motion for judgment of acquittal, the trial court immediately stated, “[d]enied, denied, denied.” Tr. 10/2/23 at 150. When counsel for Mr. Wallace reminded the trial court that he had to make a record, the trial court allowed the attorneys to speak. *Id.* at 151. Counsel for Mr. Layne argued that Officer Brown’s testimony was functionally useless and had no value as to possession with intent to distribute dimethylpentylone. *Id.* at 151-52. The trial court denied the motion. *Id.* at 152

III. Defense Evidence at Trial

Mr. Layne did not call any witnesses at trial and chose not to testify. Mr. Wallace called three witnesses to testify in his defense. Mr. Wallace’s neighbor, Chenae Priester, testified that she frequently observed Mr. Wallace using cocaine. Tr. 10/2/23 at 153-56. Mr. Wallace’s former employer, Alex Alexander, testified that Mr. Wallace regularly smoked crack. *Id.* at 162-69. Mr. Alexander also knew Mr. Layne, who had applied for a job at his company. *Id.* at 170-71.

Myron Smith, a former MPD detective and current subject matter expert, was qualified as an expert in the field of use, distribution, packaging and trends in

narcotics in Washington, D.C. *Id.* at 172-177. During Mr. Smith's many years at the MPD, he worked extensively in an undercover capacity and became a Detective Grade II with the Narcotics and Special Investigations Division. *Id.* at 173. He was the resident narcotics expert during his last five years at the MPD and has testified as an expert about 2,000 times. *Id.* at 173-75.

Mr. Smith testified that the narcotics recovered from Mr. Wallace were "well within personal use." *Id.* at 178. Mr. Smith came to this conclusion for multiple reasons, including that there were no empty zip-locks, scales, other tallying methods such as rubber bands, large amounts of money, or hand-to-hand transactions. *Id.* at 178-81. Mr. Smith also explained that firearms are becoming quite common and do not necessarily indicate that someone is selling drugs. *Id.* at 180. With respect to dimethylpentylone, Mr. Smith testified with that there is no agreed upon price. *Id.* at 184. Since it is a new drug, law enforcement is "coming behind, trying to find out what it is, what does it do, the pricing, so forth." *Id.* Regardless of pricing, Mr. Smith emphasized that there was no evidence of anybody buying anything in this case. *Id.* Finally, Officer Smith testified that two eightballs of crack cocaine are not necessarily indicative of possession with intent to distribute. *Id.* at 186.

IV. Verdict & Sentencing

The jury found Mr. Layne guilty of all charges. R. at 178-81 (PDF) (Verdict Form); Tr. 10/6/23 at 5. At sentencing, the government requested that Judge

Christian impose a term of incarceration of 72 months (6 years) for possession of a firearm during a crime of violence or dangerous offense, and a term of incarceration within the guidelines range for the other offenses. Tr. 2/14/14 at 24-25. This was consistent with the government's request for a term of incarceration of 72 months in its sentencing memorandum. R. at 224, 228 (PDF) (Government's Memorandum in Aid of Sentencing pp. 1, 5). Judge Christian tripled the government's request and sentenced Mr. Layne to a total term of incarceration of 210 months (17.5 years) followed by 3 years of supervised release. R. at 245-47 (PDF) (Judgment & Commitment Order); Tr. 2/14/24 at 28-30.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court abused its discretion by allowing an officer to testify as an expert with respect to the only drug found on Mr. Layne – dimethylpentyline – where the officer was unqualified to do so, and where the officer's opinion regarding possession with intent to distribute the drug was speculative and unreliable. The standard for admission of expert testimony in the District of Columbia requires trial courts to act as gatekeepers. In Mr. Layne's case, the trial court failed to act as a gatekeeper where it was clear that the government's expert had next to no knowledge or experience with respect to dimethylpentyline and could not base his testimony on sufficient facts or data. As a result, a speculative and unreliable opinion regarding

Mr. Layne's alleged possession with intent to distribute dimethylpentylone was improperly admitted at trial, severely prejudicing Mr. Layne.

The trial court also erred by improperly acting as a partisan by interfering in the testimony of multiple witnesses in a manner that assisted the prosecution and denied Mr. Layne the right to an impartial decision-maker. As such, Mr. Layne's convictions should be reversed.

ARGUMENT

- I. The trial court abused its discretion by allowing an officer to testify as an expert with respect to the only drug found on Mr. Layne – dimethylpentylone – where the officer was unqualified to do so, and where the officer's opinion regarding possession with intent to distribute the drug was speculative and unreliable.**
 - A. The standard for admission of expert testimony in the District of Columbia requires trial courts to act as “gatekeepers.”**

In *Motorola Inc. v. Murray*, 147 A.3d 751, 757 (D.C. 2016) (en banc), this Court adopted Federal Rule of Evidence 702 as the standard for admission of expert testimony in the District of Columbia. The *Motorola* court expressed concern that the standard used at the time – the *Dyas/Frye* test – “avoids, even forbids, looking at the crucial question of whether the testimony offered in a particular case is reliable.” *Id.* at 756. In evaluating the admissibility of proposed expert testimony under Rule 702, a trial court now needs “to determine whether the opinion ‘is the product of reliable principles and methods[,] . . . reliably applied.’” *Id.* at 757 (quoting Fed. R. Evid. 702 (c), (d)).

Under Rule 702, as amended after the Supreme Court's decision in *Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharmaceuticals, Inc.*, 509 U.S. 579 (1993) and subsequent cases:

A witness who is qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education may testify in the form of an opinion or otherwise if:

- (a) the expert's scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will help the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue;
- (b) the testimony is based on sufficient facts or data;
- (c) the testimony is the product of reliable principles and methods; and
- (d) the expert has reliably applied the principles and methods to the facts of the case.

Fed. R. Evid. 702.

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