CONSOLIDATED BRIEF FOR APPELLEE

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

Clerk of the Court
Received 06/05/2025 01:30 PM
Filed 06/10/2025 01:40 PM

Nos. 24-CF-43 & 24-CF-156

ELLIOTT WALLACE &
ANTOINE LAYNE,

Appellants,

v.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Appellee.

APPEALS FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA CRIMINAL DIVISION

JEANINE FERRIS PIRRO
United States Attorney

CHRISELLEN R. KOLB
NICHOLAS P. COLEMAN
SARA MATAR
MOLLY SMITH

* MICHAEL E. McGOVERN
D.C. Bar #1018476
Assistant United States Attorneys

* Counsel for Oral Argument
601 D Street, NW, Room 6.232
Washington, D.C. 20530
Michael.McGovern2@usdoj.gov
(202) 252-6829

Cr. Nos. 2022-CF2-5858 &
2023-CF2-2579

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

Even assuming Officer Brown's testimony about boot was improperly admitted, it was harmless as to Wallace's convictions for possession of cocaine with intent to distribute, possession of cocaine, and possession of liquid PCP. *See Carrington v. District of Columbia*, 77 A.3d 999, 1008 (D.C. 2013) ("This court reviews the admission or denial of expert witness testimony for non-constitutional harmless error . . ."). Wallace has not challenged the admission of Officer Brown's testimony regarding crack cocaine, PCP, or the distribution of those drugs in D.C. Because Wallace possessed a crack-cocaine/boot mixture in rock form, it is highly probable Officer Brown's testimony about boot as a standalone drug would not have substantially swayed the jury's verdicts against Wallace. *See Howard v. United States*, 867 A.2d 967, 975 (D.C. 2005) (no prejudice in introduction of expert testimony about defendant's mental state under plain error review where "[o]ther evidence was introduced

from which a reasonable juror could infer reasonably that [defendant] possessed marijuana with intent to distribute it"). Similarly, Officer Brown's expert testimony would have had no impact on the jury's convictions of Layne for simple possession of N,N-dimethylpentylone, unlawful possession of a firearm, carrying a pistol without a license, possession of an unregistered firearm, and unlawful possession of ammunition.

II. The Trial Court Did Not Plainly Err or Abuse Its Discretion in Occasionally Posing Clarifying Questions to Witnesses.

A. Additional Background

In its preliminary instructions, the trial court informed the jury of the judge's role "to conduct th[e] trial in a fair, orderly, and efficient manner, to rule on questions of law that come up during the trial, and to tell [the jury] what the law applies in this case" (9/28/23 Tr. 125-26). It contrasted this role with the jury's job as "the judges of the facts" who "alone determine the weight, the effect, and the value of the evidence" (*id.* at 126). The court specifically instructed the jury that any actions it might take during the trial, including "questions to witnesses, perhaps," were "not to be taken by [the jury] as indicating or suggesting any opinion

[it] might have about how [the jury] should decide the facts of this particular case” and that “[w]hat the verdict shall be in this case is [the jury’s] sole and exclusive responsibility” (*id.* at 126-27).

Throughout trial, the trial court asked follow-up questions of certain witnesses to clarify their testimony. On the first day of testimony, Officer McCollum repeatedly referred to “PPE” without defining the term for the jury (9/28/23 Tr. 168-69). In response to a question from the trial court, the officer clarified that PPE stands for “personal protective equipment” such as a “mask, gown, [and] gloves” (*id.* at 169). Similarly, after Investigator Paskalis testified about the collection of buccal swabs from Wallace, Layne, and Plummer, the trial court asked a series of questions to clarify for the jury the process of how, physically, the investigator “actually took a swab or would take a swab from an individual” (*id.* at 187-88). Paskalis described that process, and then both Wallace and Layne had the opportunity to cross-examine him (*id.* at 188-98). The next day, when Officer Dawes misspoke about what was depicted in an admitted photograph, the trial court highlighted the officer’s slip of the tongue and permitted him to clarify that the photograph depicted the

gun under the *seat* of the car, rather than under the car itself (9/29/23 Tr. 25).

The trial court continued to ask clarifying questioning during the government's direct examination of Sergeant Akhtar. First, after Sergeant Akhtar described stopping the car Wallace was driving, the trial court asked a series of questions to pin down precisely when Sergeant Akhtar observed the traffic infractions that were the subject of his stop (9/29/23 Tr. 150-52). These questions revealed that Sergeant Akhtar had not known that the plastic cover on the car's license plate created a reflective glare – and therefore was an equipment violation – until he turned on his emergency lights to stop the vehicle (*id.*). Second, when Sergeant Akhtar was discussing the moment Wallace, Layne, and Plummer exited the car, the trial court inquired whether the police had requested that the men exit the car or had ordered them to do so (*id.* at 156-57.) Sergeant Akhtar responded, “I don't remember exactly what I said; however, normally we will ask them to step out. If no one complies, then we will order them to exit the vehicle.” (*Id.* at 157.) Third, when Sergeant Akhtar identified the object in an admitted photograph as PCP, the trial court probed the basis of Sergeant Akhtar's knowledge, to which

Sergeant Akhtar explained, “it’s a yellow liquid inside of a small vial” and “[t]hat day it had odor consistent with PCP” (*id.* at 175).

Finally, on cross-examination, Officer Brown testified that it would be “potentially dangerous” for a drug dealer to let a buyer he did not know get into a car with him (10/2/23 Tr. 142). In response to a question from the trial court, Officer Brown clarified that the risk to the dealer was “that the buyer [could] rob the dealer” (*id.*). Continued cross-examination by Layne elicited that a dealer may, however, let a buyer into his car “if they knew each other decently” (*id.*).

After the close of testimony, the trial court instructed the jury:

As I also told you before we began, you should not assume from any of my actions that I have an opinion about the facts of this case or these cases, these two cases. My rulings on objections, my comments to lawyers, discussions at the bench, these instructions to you, questions to witnesses, or statements to witnesses perhaps, all are concerned only with legal matters or with clarifying a question and are not to be taken by you as indicating my view about how you should decide the facts. Remember what I told you at the beginning of this trial. I try not to have any opinion as to facts in these cases. And if you think I’ve slipped and somehow hinted to you at an opinion I might have, you must entirely disregard it. What the verdict shall be is entirely your responsibility and none of my business. (10/3/23 Tr. 24-25.)

B. Standard of Review and Applicable Legal Principles

This Court ordinarily reviews a trial court's decision to question a witness for abuse of discretion. *See Khaalis v. United States*, 408 A.2d 313, 355 (D.C. 1979); *Womack v. United States*, 350 A.2d 381, 383 (D.C. 1976) (“To what extent the court will intervene . . . [to question a witness] is a matter of discretion.”). Here, however, the plain-error standard of review applies because Layne’s trial counsel did not object that the trial court’s inquiries improperly assumed a prosecutorial role, or otherwise argue that the decision to intervene was improper or required a mistrial.¹⁶ *See Jennings v. United States*, 989 A.2d 1106, 1114-15 (D.C. 2010) (applying plain-error review to unpreserved claim that the trial judge unfairly “assumed a prosecutorial role”). Under plain-error review, Layne must show an error that is “plain,” that “affects substantial rights,” and that “seriously affect[s] the fairness, integrity, or public

¹⁶ Wallace has neither advanced this argument on appeal nor adopted Layne’s argument on the issue. Thus, he has waived this challenge to his convictions. *Rose v. United States*, 629 A.2d 526, 535 (D.C. 1993) (“It is a basic principle of appellate jurisprudence that points not urged on appeal are deemed to be waived.”).

reputation of judicial proceedings.” *United States v. Olano*, 507 U.S. 725, 734 (1993).

C. Discussion

The trial court did not err at all, much less plainly err, by posing questions to various witnesses to clarify their testimony during trial. Layne argues (at 28-33) that the court “improperly took on the role of a partisan and interfered in the examination of witnesses in a manner that assisted the prosecution.” But the trial court “may interrogate a witness in the aid of truth and furtherance of justice,” and, in some circumstances, “it is not only the right but the duty of the trial judge to participate directly in the trial.” *Womack*, 350 A.2d at 382-83; *see Perry v. United States*, 364 A.2d 617, 620 n.4 (D.C. 1976) (“It has been observed that ‘[t]he adversary nature of the proceeding does not relieve the trial judge of the obligation of raising on his own initiative . . . matters which may significantly promote a just determination of the trial.’”) (quoting ABA Standards, The Function of the Trial Judge, § 1.1 (1972)). A trial court may “permissibly illuminate the witness’s testimony’ so long as the questions asked ‘in no way jeopardized the appellant’s presumption of innocence . . . or improperly suggested to the prosecutor tactics he had

not considered.” *Hagood v. United States*, 93 A.3d 210, 228 (D.C. 2014) (quoting *Johnson v. United States*, 613 A.2d 888, 895-96 (D.C. 1992)).

Here, the trial court’s questions permissibly illuminated the witnesses’ testimony. The court’s questions sought to clarify prior testimony to ensure the jury had a fulsome picture of what certain abbreviations meant (9/28/23 Tr. 168-69); how buccal swabs were taken (*id.* at 187-88); precisely what observations Sergeant Akhtar made before he decided to stop the men’s car (9/29/23 Tr. 150-52); how the police interaction with the men in the car occurred (*id.* at 156-57), and the precise basis for certain assertions made by police officers (*id.* at 175; 10/2/23 Tr. 142). Thus, the court simply sought to clarify testimony that was already elicited by the prosecutor, and in no way injected new theories into the case or undermined the presumption of innocence.

Indeed, in *Hagood*, this Court held that similar questions posed by a trial judge were not an abuse of discretion. 93 A.3d at 227-28. In *Hagood*, the judge questioned a government witness in the midst of direct examination, asking whether the defendant was “inside the apartment or outside the apartment,” and exactly how the defendant was holding the apartment door. *Id.* The court also clarified a physical demonstration

about where the defendant was in relation to the apartment's threshold. *Id.* at 228. These questions "did not exceed the proper bounds of the judicial role" because, in each instance, "the trial judge was clarifying for the record demonstrations or actions performed in court pursuant to inquiries the prosecutor had initiated." *Id.* The questions posed by the trial court here similarly sought clarification of prior testimony rather than to advance any particular or new theory of the case.

Even assuming the court erred, Layne fails to show that the error was plain. Although Layne cites (at 28) two cases involving trial court overreach, both are inapposite. In *Davis v. United States*, 567 A.2d 36, 41 (D.C. 1989), the trial court undertook "an off-the-record investigation," and in *Robinson v. United States*, 513 A.2d 218, 222 (D.C. 1986), the trial court "suggested to the prosecutor a tactical course which he had not considered." Both scenarios are a far cry from the court's inquiries in this case. In fact, both *Davis* and *Robinson* reaffirmed that a trial court may properly question a witness to clarify or fill in gaps in testimony. *Davis*, 567 A.2d at 41 (distinguishing between permissible questioning to fill in testimonial gaps and impermissible independent investigation and factual development); *Robinson*, 513 A.2d at 222 ("To the extent that the

court sought to clarify the witness' testimony, appellant has no basis for complaint.”).

Finally, Layne cannot satisfy his burden to show that any error affected his substantial rights, or that failure to correct the error would “seriously affect[] the fairness, integrity, or public reputation of judicial proceedings.” *Olano*, 507 U.S. at 736. The most critical aspects of the government’s case against Layne were not impacted by the trial court’s questioning; rather, body-worn camera captured the recovery of drugs from Layne as well as the gun from underneath the front passenger seat, DNA testing confirmed Layne’s possession of the gun, and a drug expert opined that the circumstances surrounding Layne’s possession of the boot were consistent with his possession with an intent to distribute the drug. Layne’s claim (at 29-31) that the court’s questioning could have buttressed the government’s case by highlighting the legality of the traffic stop is undermined by (1) Layne’s failure to challenge the legality of the stop as a matter of law, (2) the trial court’s explicit response to a jury note instructing the jury that the lawfulness of the traffic stop was “an issue that [wa]s outside of [its] province” (10/3/23 Tr. 118), and (3) the fact the trial court did not know how Sergeant Akhtar would respond

and his answers very well could have weighed in favor of the defense. *See Jennings*, 989 A.2d at 1115 (“[A]ppellant was not prejudiced by the trial court’s questioning [of appellant] because, *inter alia*, his responses could have helped his defense.”).¹⁷ Finally, any prejudice that may have potentially accrued from an impression the trial court’s questioning favored the prosecution was ameliorated by the fact that the jury was explicitly instructed at both the beginning and end of trial to disregard any such impression (9/28/23 Tr. 126-27; 10/3/23 Tr. 24-25). *See Atkins v. United States*, 290 A.3d 474, 485 (D.C. 2023) (“We ordinarily presume that the jury understands and obeys the trial judge’s instructions.”) (quoting *Holloway v. United States*, 25 A.3d 893, 903 (D.C. 2011)).

¹⁷ Indeed, Sergeant Akhtar’s acknowledgment that he only saw the glare reflecting from the license plate cover *after* activating his emergency lights would have helped, not hurt, any defense challenge to the traffic stop, because it meant that the police initiated the stop before learning of that particular infraction.

III. There Was Sufficient Evidence of Wallace's Intent to Distribute Crack Cocaine.

A. Standard of Review and Applicable Legal Principles

This Court reviews a sufficiency claim *de novo*, “but . . . view[s] the evidence in the light most favorable to the government, drawing all reasonable inferences in the government’s favor” and “mak[ing] no distinction between direct and circumstantial evidence, [because] circumstantial evidence is not intrinsically inferior to direct evidence.”

Bruce v. United States, 305 A.3d 381, 392 (D.C. 2023) (quotation marks omitted). “An appellant making a claim of evidentiary insufficiency bears the heavy burden of showing that the prosecution offered no evidence upon which a reasonable mind could find guilt beyond a reasonable doubt.” *Id.* The evidence “need not negate every possible inference of innocence to be sufficient”; “[t]he issue is whether the evidence is probative enough to permit the [factfinder] to make the required inference beyond a reasonable doubt.” *Brown v. United States*, 146 A.3d 110, 112 (D.C. 2016).

To prove PWID cocaine, the government must show that the defendant “knowingly and intentionally possessed [cocaine] with the

specific intent to distribute it.” *Digsby v. United States*, 981 A.2d 598, 604-05 (D.C. 2009) (internal quotation marks omitted). “An intent to distribute can be inferred from expert testimony and the possession of a quantity of drugs that exceeds a reasonable supply.” *Id.* Finally, “the government must demonstrate by direct or circumstantial evidence the controlled substance consisted of a measurable amount.” *Id.*

B. Discussion

There was sufficient evidence from which a juror could reasonably infer that Wallace intended to distribute the cocaine in his possession.¹⁸ In addition to multiple bags of fentanyl and a vial of PCP, Wallace had on his person 13 separately knotted plastic bags containing crack cocaine as well as \$405 in cash while he travelled in a car with an armed individual who possessed two eightballs of boot. The men did not have a crack pipe or other smoking paraphernalia in their possession. Officer Brown opined that the amount of cocaine on Wallace’s person, the manner in which it was packaged, the lack of smoking paraphernalia,

¹⁸ Wallace does not challenge the sufficiency of the other elements of PWID cocaine. Layne has not raised a sufficiency challenge on appeal and has thus waived any such claim. *Rose*, 629 A.2d at 535.

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